FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 1/18/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 1/17/2023 1:54 PM SUPREME COURT No. 101632-8 COA No. 81567-9-I (consolidated with COA No. 82130-0-I)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

JEFFREY A. COOK,

Respondent.

PETITION FOR REVIEW

JASON CUMMINGS Prosecuting Attorney

BRADLEY H. BARTLETT Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Petitioner

Snohomish County Prosecutor's Office 3000 Rockefeller Avenue, M/S #504 Everett, Washington 98201 Telephone: (425) 388-3333

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

The State of Washington asks this court to review the decision designated in part II. The State was plaintiff in the trial court and respondent in the Court of Appeals.

II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Court of Appeals reversed the respondent's conviction in an unpublished opinion filed November 7, 2022. The opinion is set out in the Appendix. The State's motion to reconsider was denied by order entered December 19. This opinion and order are set out in the Appendix.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in concluding that a dissimilar 1997 child molestation crime involving the defendant negates the trial court's conclusion of law that two incidents from 2016 and 2017 were admissible under ER 404(b) to show a common scheme or plan with respect to the 2018 offense conduct in this case?

2. Did the Court of Appeals err in its conclusion that that the State erroneously "withheld" evidence and "fabricated" a "misleading" case theory because a decades-old, dissimilar, and inadmissible child molestation incident, disclosed to defense in discovery, was not *expressly disclosed to the trial court* as the State was seeking to admit much more recent and similar prior acts as ER 404(b) evidence?

3. Did the Court of Appeals err by concluding the trial court's finding that the defendant approached each child "from either behind or from some position from which they would initially not see or notice" him is not supported by the record?

4. Did the Court of Appeals err by refusing to consider in its ER 404(b) analysis commonalities in gender, approaching children without their parents present, and the fact the sexual misconduct was completed in open, public stores with others present?

5. Did the Court of Appeals misapply <u>State v.</u> <u>Wilson</u>, 1 Wn. App. 2d 73, 404 P.3d 76 (2017) to conclude that because a 2017 incident admitted under ER 404(b) involved only *solicitation of* child molestation, it was insufficiently similar to a 2016 ER 404(b) incident and the instant case, which involved actual child molestation?

6. Did the Court of Appeals err in its conclusion that two prior incidents from 2016 and 2017 were also inadmissible under ER 404(b) to show absence of mistake or intent? In doing so, did the Court of Appeals render a decision that conflicts with the published case <u>State v. Wade</u>, 98 Wn. App. 328, 989 P.2d 576 (1999)?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 18, 2018, the defendant was charged with First Degree Child Molestation for an incident that occurred on September 15, 2018, where a woman called 911 to report that a stranger had touched her 10-year-old daughter's vagina while walking past her at the 99 Ranch

Market (an Asian grocery store) in Edmonds, Washington. 1 CP 444. Law enforcement investigation developed evidence including surveillance footage recorded 75 minutes later which placed the defendant at an H Mart Asian grocery store in Lynnwood, Washington. 1 CP 445.

Prior to trial, the parties heavily litigated admission of two prior child molestation incidents under ER 404(b), a 2016 incident at a Barnes and Noble bookstore and a 2017 incident at Modern Trading Company, an Asian goods store in Seattle, Washington. <u>See</u> 12/18/19 RP 41-195;¹ 1 CP 342-49, 384-93, 394-437.

The first, a 2016 incident at Barnes and Noble bookstore, was presented, in part, through the testimony

¹ Many volumes of the report of proceedings cover multiple dates. Unless a citation to a report of proceedings references a specific date, the volumes will be referred to as follows: 1 RP (March 29, 2019; August 28, 2019; September 4, 2019; January 6 & 7, 2020); 2 RP (January 7, 8, & 9, 2020); 3 RP (January 9, 10, 13 & 14, 2020); 4 RP (January 14, 15 & 16, 2020); 5 RP (January 16 & 17, 2020).

of the store's security guard. He testified that he saw the defendant stand to the side and behind an Asian girl who appeared to him to be about 8 or 9 years old. 2 RP 942; 3 RP 1045. He saw the defendant run up from behind the girl, touch her bottom, and then run his hand up between the legs to touch the front or vaginal portion of the child. Afterward, the defendant quickly left the store. 2 RP 942; 3 RP 1048. The security guard followed the defendant outside, asked the defendant why he did that, and the defendant apologized. 2 RP 942; 3 RP 1056-57.

The second incident occurred in 2017 at Modern Trading Company in Seattle's Chinatown district. The defendant came upon a 12-year-old Asian female victim. 2 RP 943; 991. The encounter initially began with the defendant approaching the victim in "the middle of the store" without making direct contact. During this time, the victim heard the defendant talk about squeezing something on her body. The victim "did not know if [the

defendant was] talking to her or on his phone." 1 CP 403. The defendant proceeded to follow the girl into an employee-only area at the back of the store and made lewd comments to her, telling her: "I can take your panties off and set them to the side and play with your pussy." 1 CP 403. The defendant quickly left the store after the incident. 2 RP 944, 996.

The trial court engaged in a lengthy and detailed analysis in its findings of fact and conclusions of law regarding the State's proposed ER 404(b) evidence. <u>See</u> 2 RP 941-58. The State offered four reasons for admission of the evidence: identity, common scheme or plan, lack of accident or mistake, and to show intent—e.g. that the purpose of the touching was for sexual gratification, an element of the crime charged. 2 RP 945.

The trial court did not deem the evidence relevant to prove identity. 2 RP 946. The court did find, however, that there were substantial similarities sufficient to show a

common scheme and plan to accomplish a similar crime on multiple occasions. 2 RP 946-47. The court also found the evidence relevant for the purpose of showing lack of accident or mistake and to show that the purpose was for sexual gratification (e.g., intent). 2 RP 954.

The court observed several significant and noncoincidental similarities between the 2016 and 2017 prior acts with the 2018 offense conduct in this case. <u>See</u> 2 RP 946-53. These similarities include the following:

(A) they all took place at a public retail store;

(B) they all involved female children around ages 8 to 12;

(C) the girls all appeared to be Asian;

(D) the defendant sought to exploit the same body part (e.g. vagina);

(E) the defendant had the same criminal intent to commit child molestation;

(F) the occurrences were brief in duration;

(G) the reported incidents constituting the defendant's scheme or plan took place

.....

relatively close in time to one another in 2016, 2017, and 2018 respectively;

(H) in each instance the child was not with a parent or guardian (children 8-12 years of age are not usually in stores alone);

(I) the defendant approached each child initially in a covert manner;

(J) the acts happened in an open store where there were either other people around or it was likely that another person might see this; and

(K) the defendant promptly departed the stores after touching the child in each incident.

2 RP 946-53; 1 CP 403, 408, 431.

Balancing the probative value with the prejudicial effect, the trial court concluded that while the ER 404(b) evidence is prejudicial, for the purposes of showing common scheme or plan, lack of mistake, and establishing that the touching was for sexual gratification (e.g., intent, an element of the offense), the relevance outweighs the prejudice. 2 RP 957-58.

On appellate review, the Court of Appeals disagreed that the ER 404(b) evidence was admissible to rebut a defense of mistake or accident and to demonstrate intent of sexual gratification. Slip op. at 14. The bulk of the opinion, however, centered on attacking the trial court's determination that evidence of the 2016 and 2017 incidents was admissible under ER 404(b) to demonstrate a common scheme or plan. Slip op. at 7.

The Court of Appeals held the 2017 incident at Modern Trading Company was dissimilar to the charged incident because the defendant had only solicited touching of the vaginal area of the child and had not actually done so like the charged incident and the 2016 Barnes and Noble incident. Slip op. at 9. The court also held "the trial court's finding that Cook approached each child 'from either behind or from some position from which they would initially not see or notice' him, is not supported by the record." Slip op. at 11.

The Court of Appeals did not consider the fact that in each instance the defendant approached the children when no parent was present as a valid similarity because it "simply indicates that Cook seized an opportunity." Slip. op. at 11. Nor did the court consider the fact the defendant was targeting *girls* as a valid similarity, instead deeming this to show only "that Cook is heterosexual." Slip op. 11. The trial court's observation that the acts similarly "happened in an open store where there were either other people around or it was likely that another person might see this" also did not get cited as one of the "only similarities" the court recognized. Slip op. at 17.

Significantly, the Court of Appeals refused to consider the fact that all three instances involved a girl who was Asian as a similarity at all. Solely because of the presumed race of the child in the 1997 incident, the Court of Appeals refused to consider the fact that the defendant was *uniquely* targeting Asian-appearing girls as his

victims in the incidents from 2016 through 2018 as a commonality indicative of a common scheme or plan, absence of mistake or accident, and intent for sexual gratification under ER 404(b). Slip op. at 11.

Instead, the appellate court accused the State of "fabricating" a "misleading" theory that the victims in the ER 404(b) incidents presented to the jury and the instant case were Asian. Slip op. at 17-18. The Court of Appeals reprimanded the State for "not [being] forthcoming with the trial court regarding the facts underlying all of Cook's previous convictions." Slip op. at 10. Specifically, the court took issue with the State first discussing at a motion for new trial/sentencing hearing a decades-old 1997 child molestation incident in Georgia involving a female presumed to be a "white child." Slip op. at 10. Critical to this accusation is the presumption that the mere existence of the dated, dissimilar 1997 molestation incident involving a presumed white child negates

commonalities between substantially similar acts that occurred around two decades later.

Notwithstanding the laundry list of similarities between this case and the 2016 and 2017 incidents specified above, the Court of Appeals neglected to hold that a "common scheme or plan" existed under ER 404(b). Rather, the appellate court held that the two ER 404(b) incidents and the instant case were not even similar enough to "meet a threshold of noncoincidence" such as to allow rebuttal of asserted defenses of accident, mistake, and of having no intent of sexual gratification. Slip op. at 15-16.

This matter was reversed and remanded for a new trial without consideration of the other issues raised in the defendant's consolidated direct appeal and personal restraint petition. Slip op. at 19.

V. ARGUMENT

A. THE PRIOR 2016 AND 2017 INCIDENTS ADMITTED UNDER ER 404(B) ARE SUFFICIENTLY SIMILAR TO THE CHARGED CRIME TO CONSTITUTE A COMMON SCHEME OR PLAN.

1. The Appellate Court's Conclusion That An Unrelated Molestation Incident From 1997 Would Have Negated The Trial Court's Conclusions Of Law Is Erroneous.

a. The State did not have a duty to disclose the defendant's 1997 child molestation conviction to the trial court and did not "withhold" evidence.

CrR 4.7(a) defines the prosecutor's discovery obligations as disclosures pertaining "to the defendant" and not the trial court. The role of the defense attorney is to provide competent and effective client representation with respect to the State's evidentiary disclosures. U.S. Const. amend. VI; Wash. Const. art. I, § 22. Failure to provide effective representation is analyzed as an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. <u>State v.</u> <u>McFarland</u>, 127 Wn.2d 322, 899 P.2d 1251 (1995). Only in *ex parte proceedings* are lawyers required to "inform

the tribunal of all material facts known to the lawyer that will enable the tribunal to make an informed decision, whether or not the facts are adverse." RPC 3.3(f).

Notwithstanding the foregoing, the Court of Appeals reprimanded the State as having been "misleading" for not expressly disclosing a decades-old, dissimilar prior child molestation incident *to the trial court* at the ER 404(b) hearing. Slip op. at 10-11. In doing so, the appellate court employed a novel theory that presumes an obligation on the State more consistent with the obligations of a party in an ex parte hearing in RPC 3.3(f).

Notably, the Court of Appeals presupposed the State engaged in "misleading" conduct with no inquiry as to whether this information had or had not been turned over to defense already, and no inquiry as to whether the defense's failure to present that information amounted to ineffective assistance. The appellate court even denied the State's request in its motion for reconsideration for an

evidentiary hearing to prove the "withheld" material had in fact been long provided to the defendant.

The decision of the Court of Appeals ignores that the defendant possessed evidence of the 1997 incident at the ER 404(b) pretrial hearing and was able to use it to rebut the State's proposed ER 404(b) evidence outside the presence of a jury. Slip op. at 10 n.3. Instead of allowing the State to establish at an evidentiary hearing that the 1997 incident was disclosed to defense prior to the ER 404(b) hearing, the appellate court seemingly presumes this incident was withheld from defense. In making this presumption, the Court of Appeals deemed the State to have violated a newly found prosecutorial requirement to affirmatively present evidence on behalf of the defendant at ER 404(b) hearings as if the matter was an ex parte proceeding.

Whether the defendant was aware of the 1997 incident or not, the appellate court's unpublished decision

in Cook effectually necessitates a requirement that, where the State seeks to introduce evidence under ER 404(b) of a common scheme or plan, absence of mistake or accident, or intent, it must disclose to the trial court "the underlying facts of all [a defendant's] prior convictions" to avoid accusations of being deliberately misleading or deceptive. Slip op. at 17. In doing so, the appellate court expands the scope of the State's disclosure obligations far beyond the purview of CrR 4.7(a) and RPC 3.3 without citation to any published case, statute, or other applicable authority. This unwarranted and novel expansion of State disclosure obligations used to presuppose "misleading" conduct on the part of the prosecution was erroneous.

b. Even if the State had disclosure obligations to the trial court at ER 404(b) hearings, there was no reason to think the defendant's 1997 child molestation conviction was relevant to the court's ER 404(b) analysis.

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts cannot be presented as propensity evidence; a valid non-propensity

reason for admission is required, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident. ER 404(b). The 1997 Georgia incident involving a presumed white victim does not have a valid non-propensity reason for its admission and therefore would be inadmissible at trial.

Indeed, the 1997 Georgia incident is materially different from the common scheme or plan incidents in 2016, 2017, and the 2018 conduct in this case for several reasons, namely:

(A) the incident took place around *two decades* before the defendant's common scheme or plan resulting in the reported incidents that took place in 2016, 2017, and 2018;

(B) the incident took place at a library instead of a retail store;

(C) the incident was not a brief encounter but rather a 45-minute conversation;

(D) the incident involved a child older in age than the girls in the subsequent 2016-2018 incidents (14 years old versus 8-12 years old); and

(E) the 1997 incident entailed the defendant placing his hands upon his own sex organ and the victim's breast and buttocks, instead of pursuing the victim's vagina as the defendant did in the 2016-2018 incidents.

See 1 CP 108-09, 130, 133.

The State omitted this dissimilar 1997 incident involving a presumed white girl from its ER 404(b) evidence presentation not to be "misleading," but rather because it was clearly inadmissible at trial. The State even referenced the 1997 Georgia incident during the defendant's motion for new trial as an example of an incident that "did not meet the very specific common plan or scheme that the State had proffered to the Court." 06/22/20 RP 47.

Considering the foregoing, even if the State had disclosure obligations to the trial court at ER 404(b)

hearings, there was no reason to think the defendant's 1997 child molestation conviction was relevant to the court's ER 404(b) analysis. The defendant's dated molestation conviction from 1997 has nothing to do with whether the 2016 and 2017 incidents were part of a common scheme or plan along with the instant case. An individual can have a common scheme or plan and still engage in criminal activity *outside* their typical scheme. An individual and can also *change their typical scheme or plan over time*.

c. It was error of law to hold that the defendant's 1997 child molestation conviction *negated* similarities between the ER 404(b) evidence admitted and the instant case.

There are two categories of common scheme or

plan evidence:

(1) "[W]here several crimes constitute constituent parts of a plan in which each crime is but a piece of the larger plan;" and

(2) where "an individual devises a plan and uses it repeatedly to perpetrate separate but very similar crimes."

<u>State v. Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d 405, 421-22, 269 P.3d 207 (2012). The second category, applicable here, contains no requirement that "very similar crimes" cannot exist where a defendant at some point in his life committed a crime *different from* the "very similar crimes" sought to be admitted under ER 404(b). Yet the Court of Appeals creates such a requirement in its <u>Cook</u> opinion, wholly negating a significant common scheme or plan similarity because the defendant, around two decades prior, molested a girl presumed to be white under materially different circumstances. Slip op. at 10-11.

While a common scheme or plan analysis requires assessment of whether the prior misconduct and charged crime are "markedly and substantially similar," there is no requirement the State is aware of that the trial court must assess a defendant's *entire criminal history* to determine

whether the defendant has ever engaged in wrongful conduct *apart from* the proposed common scheme or plan conduct. <u>Gresham</u>, 173 Wn.2d at 422. Nor is there any authority the State is aware of holding that extraneous conduct which *deviates from* the proposed common scheme or plan operates to *negate the existence of* the common scheme or plan proposed.

Applied here, to the extent the appellate court ruled that the mere existence of the prior 1997 incident actually *contradicted* the similarity of the more recent 2016 and 2017 prior episodes to the charged act, such a ruling is incorrect and based on erroneous factual assumptions. From a legal and logical standpoint, the more recent prior episodes from 2016 and 2017 do not become *less like* charged episode by the existence of a two-decade old dissimilar act. While the 1997 incident gives an indication that the defendant did not have an *exclusive* sexual propensity for Asian females aged 8-12 in the late 1990s,

his common scheme or plan spanning from 2016 to 2018 remains unchanged. The appellate court's ruling seems to conflate propensity evidence with common scheme or plan evidence. As decades pass, a defendant may do many things that are dissimilar to the charged act.

2. The Appellate Court's Conclusion That The Evidence Actually Presented To The Trial Court Did Not Support Its Findings Of Fact Or Conclusions Of Law Is Erroneous.

The Court of Appeals makes several erroneous conclusions with respect to whether the evidence actually presented to the trial court supported its Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law.

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