FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
5/9/2023 4:11 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

No. 101632-8

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

v.

JEFFREY COOK,

Respondent.

ANSWER IN OPPOSITION TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

LILA J. SILVERSTEIN Attorney for Petitioner

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 610 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711 wapofficemail@washapp.org

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

D. ARGUMENT

- 1. This Court should deny review because the petition meets none of the criteria of RAP 13.4(b).
 - a. RAP 13.4(b) limits the cases appropriate for this Court's review to cases presenting a conflict, cases raising a constitutional issue, or cases implicating a substantial public interest.

RAP 13.4(b) limits the cases appropriate for this Court's review. The rule provides:

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court <u>only</u>:

- (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or
- (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a published decision of the Court of Appeals; or
- (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or
- (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

RAP 13.4(b) (emphasis added).

The State's petition meets none of these criteria. The case does not meet either of the first two criteria because there is no conflict. Far from disagreeing with prior cases, the Court of appeals applied this Court's cases and its own cases to address the issues presented.

Nor does subsection (3) apply. There is no constitutional issue; instead, the prosecution merely complains about the court's ruling under Evidence Rule 404(b).

Finally, there is no issue of substantial public interest warranting review under subsection (4). The Court of Appeals simply applied existing law to the facts. The opinion is not published, not binding, and not of interest to anyone other than the litigants in this case.

b. The Court of Appeals properly applied settled law to the facts in addressing the non-constitutional issue presented.

This Court is not an error-correction court, and in any event, the Court of Appeals properly applied settled law to the facts in reversing under ER 404(b).

i. ER 404(b) prohibits admission of prior bad acts to prove action in conformity therewith.

ER 404(b) provides:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible for other purposes, such as proof of motive, opportunity, intent, preparation, plan, knowledge, identity, or absence of mistake or accident.

The "forbidden inference" of propensity to act in conformity with prior acts "is rooted in the fundamental American criminal law belief in innocence until proven guilty, a concept that confines the fact-finder to the merits of the current case in judging a person's guilt or innocence." *State v. Wade*, 98 Wn. App. 328, 336, 989 P.2d 576 (1998).

"A trial court must always begin with the presumption that evidence of prior bad acts is inadmissible." *State v.*DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d 11, 17, 74 P.3d 119 (2003). The State bears the burden of demonstrating a proper purpose for admitting evidence of a defendant's prior bad acts. *Id.* at 17.

Courts must "resolve any doubts on whether to admit the evidence in the defendant's favor." *State v. Fuller*, 169 Wn. App. 797, 829, 282 P.3d 126 (2012).

Although prior acts may be admitted to show a "common scheme or plan," evidence is not admissible for this purpose unless the prior acts and the current alleged act are "markedly similar." DeVincentis, 150 Wn.2d at 19 (citing State v. Lough, 125 Wn.2d 847, 856, 889 P.2d 487 (1995)). Nor may a court admit prior acts to show "intent" or "absence of mistake or accident" if "the evidence would merely show [the defendant's] predisposition toward molesting children." State v. Sutherby, 165 Wn.2d 870, 886, 204 P.3d 916 (2009) (discussing "absence of mistake or accident"); see also Wade, 98 Wn. App. at 334 ("When the State offers evidence of prior acts to demonstrate intent, there must be a logical theory, other than propensity, demonstrating how the prior acts connect to the intent required to commit the charged offense.").

ii. The Court of Appeals properly held the prior acts were not admissible to show common scheme or plan because the acts were not markedly similar.

The Court of Appeals correctly held the prior acts were inadmissible to show common scheme or plan because the acts were not markedly similar. In so holding, the court complied with this Court's opinions in *DeVincentis* and *Lough*, and with its own opinions in *Wilson* and *Slocum*.

The common scheme or plan exception to the prohibition on prior acts evidence applies only when the acts share "such occurrence of common features that the various acts are naturally to be explained as caused by a general plan of which the charged crime and the prior misconduct are the individual manifestations." *Lough*, 125 Wn.2d at 860. "[C]aution is called for in application of the common scheme or plan exception as defined in *Lough*." *DeVincentis*, 150 Wn.2d at 18 (citation omitted). The State's burden to prove this exception is "substantial." *Id.* at 17. The State must show the defendant "committed *markedly similar* acts of misconduct against similar

victims under similar circumstances." *Id.* at 19 (quoting *Lough*, 125 Wn.2d at 856) (emphasis added).

Here, the prior acts were not markedly similar. The 2017 incident involved a statement but no touching. Pretrial Ex. 2. The 2018 incident for which Mr. Cook was on trial involved an allegation of touching with no statement. CP 444, 449. The Court of Appeals properly concluded that the prior incident was inadmissible under *State v. Wilson*, 1 Wn. App. 2d 73, 404 P.3d 76 (2017).² There, the court reversed convictions for rape of a child and attempted rape of a child where the trial court had erroneously admitted defendant's "sexually-oriented remark" to another child under the "common scheme or plan" exception. *See id.* at 80-82.

² Although Mr. Cook cited *Wilson* in his opening brief and the Court of Appeals cited it in its opinion, the State failed to address or even cite *Wilson* in either its response brief or its motion to reconsider. The State acknowledges *Wilson* for the first time in its petition for review.

The 2016 incident was also not markedly similar. It did not take place in an Asian market, involved a girl who was much younger, and involved a touching on the backside rather than on the vagina as alleged in this case. Pretrial Ex. 1; RP (12/18/19) 90. As the Court of Appeals recognized, the prior act was inadmissible under *State v. Slocum*, 183 Wn. App. 438, 333 P.3d 541 (2014).³ There, the State charged the defendant with first-degree child molestation and third-degree rape of his stepgranddaughter after the child alleged Slocum "would call her over to sit in his lap" in his recliner and touch her vagina and breasts. Slocum, 183 Wn. App. at 443-44. At trial, the prosecutor sought admission of three prior acts under ER 404(b): two acts of molestation against the victim's mother

³ Like *Wilson*, the State failed to address *Slocum* in its response brief even though Mr. Cook cited it extensively. The State again does not acknowledge *Slocum* in its petition for review—if it acknowledged the case it would have to concede its petition does not satisfy RAP 13.4(b)(2).

when she was a child, and one act of molestation against the victim's aunt when she was a child. *Id.* at 443-45.

The mother stated that when she was the same age as her daughter, the defendant once molested her on the floor of the T.V. room and once molested her after asking her to sit in his lap in a recliner. *Id.* at 445. The aunt stated that when she was the same age, the defendant offered to help her apply sunscreen and molested her in the process of doing so. *Id.* at 446.

The trial court admitted the three prior acts for the purpose of showing a common scheme or plan, but the Court of Appeals reversed. *Id.* at 446, 448-57. The court held the trial court erred in admitting the two acts of molestation that did not take place in a recliner, because they were not "markedly similar" as required under this Court's case law. *Id.* at 450-56. This was so even though all three victims were young girls, all three were related to the defendant by marriage, all of the incidents occurred in the defendant's home, and the defendant

committed all of the crimes in a manner that reduced the likelihood of being caught. *Id.* at 444. The court emphasized:

If the State views this as an unreasoned distinction, we remind it that the question to be answered in applying ER 404(b) is not whether a defendant's prior bad acts are logically relevant—they are. Evidence that a criminal defendant is a "criminal type" is relevant. But ER 404(b) reflects the long-standing policy of Anglo-American law to exclude most character evidence because "it is said to weigh too much with the jury and to so overpersuade them.... The overriding policy of excluding such evidence, despite its admitted probative value, is the practical experience that its disallowance tends to prevent confusion of issues, unfair surprise and undue prejudice."

Slocum, 183 Wn. App. at 456 (internal citation omitted).

The Court of Appeals properly applied *Slocum* and *Wilson* in reversing Mr. Cook's conviction.

Moreover, in Mr. Cook's case the trial court improperly relied on race in its analysis, speculating that people who shop in Asian markets are immigrants who don't understand English, and that Mr. Cook had some sort of notable "sexual preference for Asian girls." RP 948-49; *see* Br. of Appellant at 21-23. The

prosecutor, too, emphasized Mr. Cook's supposed penchant for Asian girls as a theme at trial. Slip Op. at 18, n. 8.

Contrary to the trial court's ruling and the prosecution's theme, the alleged victim in this case was fluent only in English. RP 1178. Contrary to the trial court's ruling and the prosecution's theme, Mr. Cook's only prior convictions for the crime alleged here were for crimes against a white girl. RP (6/22/20) 47-48. It was not until after the State secured a guilty verdict that it revealed the existence of these prior convictions to the judge. At a hearing on Mr. Cook's motion for a new trial, the prosecutor admitted Mr. Cook had two prior convictions for molesting "a white female in a similar setting," which the prosecutor had not mentioned at the ER 404(b) hearing "because in that case it was not a young Asian female." RP (6/22/20) 47.⁴

⁴ The State claims it did not do anything wrong in withholding this information from the trial court, and that if defense counsel wanted to bring the prior convictions for crimes against a white girl to the court's attention, they could

Contrary to the trial court's ruling and the prosecution's theme, the race of the girls was not notable unless one adopts a white normative view of the world. In other words, the State cannot seriously suggest it would have emphasized the girls' race had they all been white. Instead, the prosecution and the trial court assumed that white is the norm, that a white person who touches an Asian girl must have a notable fetish, and that people in an Asian market are foreign and do not speak English. These assumptions are offensive and improper bases for a finding of common scheme or plan. Br. of Appellant at 21-23; Reply Br. of Appellant at 13-15.⁵

have done so. But the State bears the burden of proving the admissibility of prior acts evidence and the burden of proving the offender score at sentencing. Defense counsel does a disservice to the client if they present evidence of prior convictions. The State should not have withheld the information in order to support its race-based theme, and the trial court should not have indulged racial stereotypes when admitting the prior acts evidence.

⁵ The prosecutor went so far as to state that Mr. Cook's mere *comment* to an Asian girl was more similar to the current alleged sexual molestation than *an actual sexual molestation* of a white girl. RP (6/22/20) 47.

While the invocation of racial stereotypes by the trial court and prosecution may pique this Court's interest, this Court should refrain from rewarding the State for its malfeasance by granting its petition for review. The Court of Appeals properly reversed, and the case should be remanded immediately for a new trial. This Court should deny review.

iii. The Court of Appeals properly held the prior acts were not admissible to show a purpose of sexual gratification and absence of mistake or accident because the prior acts only showed these purposes through an improper propensity inference.

The Court of Appeals also properly recognized that the prior acts did not show intent and absence of mistake or accident except through a forbidden propensity inference.

While intent can be a proper purpose for admitting prior acts evidence, "there must be a logical theory, *other than propensity*, demonstrating how the prior acts connect to the intent required to commit the charged offense." *Wade*, 98 Wn.

App. at 334 (emphasis in original). The same is true for absence of mistake or accident. *Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d at 886.

As trial counsel noted, the only way Mr. Cook's prior acts demonstrated a sexual purpose or absence of mistake or accident was through a forbidden propensity inference. The prior acts showed that because Mr. Cook made a sexual statement to a girl in Seattle and touched a girl's private parts in Georgia, he must be sexually attracted to children and must have touched J. L. for the purpose of sexual gratification.

In *Wade*, the Court of Appeals reversed where two prior acts were improperly admitted to show intent. *Wade*, 98 Wn. App. at 333-37. The State had charged the defendant with possession with intent to deliver cocaine after the defendant dropped a baggie of drugs and ran from a police officer. *Id.* at 332. The trial court admitted evidence of two prior acts of drug dealing to show the defendant intended to deliver the cocaine he discarded. *Id.* The Court of Appeals reversed because, although the prior acts were relevant to show intent, their relevance was

predicated on a propensity inference. *Id.* at 334-36. The court explained, "Using Wade's prior bad acts to prove current criminal intent, however, is tantamount to inviting the following inference: Because Wade had the same intent to distribute drugs previously, he must therefore possess the same intent now. ER 404(b) forbids such inference because it depends on the defendant's propensity to commit a certain crime." *Wade*, 98 Wn. App. at 336.

The Court of Appeals correctly applied *Wade* here. Using Mr. Cook's prior bad acts to prove current sexual purpose was tantamount to inviting the inference that because Mr. Cook had a purpose of sexual gratification previously, he must therefore have possessed the same purpose during the Edmonds incident. ER 404(b) forbids this inference. *Wade*, 98 Wn. App. at 336.

In *Sutherby*, this Court applied the same principle to the "absence of mistake or accident" exception. The Court held defense counsel should have moved for severance of child pornography charges from child rape and molestation charges

because the former would not have been admissible in a trial on the latter. *Sutherby*, 165 Wn.2d at 883-86. While the State argued the child pornography charges would have been admissible to prove absence of mistake or accident, this Court held this would be true only if the charges involved the same victim. *Id.* at 886. Otherwise, "the evidence would merely show Sutherby's predisposition toward molesting children and is subject to exclusion under ER 404(b)." *Id.* The Court of Appeals properly reached the same conclusion in this case.

In sum, the Court of Appeals properly applied its own cases and this Court's cases to address the evidentiary issue in this case. There is no conflict, no constitutional question, and no issue of substantial public interest. This Court should deny review. RAP 13.4(b).

2. If this Court grants review of the ER 404(b) issue, it should also review the sentencing issue and the issues raised in the consolidated personal restraint petition.

Because the Court of Appeals reversed for the ER 404(b) violation, it did not reach the other issues in the case. If this Court grants the State's petition for review on the ER 404(b) issue, it should also review the other issues presented.

First, in his direct appeal, Mr. Cook argued in the alternative that he was entitled to resentencing because the only two prior convictions in his offender score were Georgia convictions for crimes that were not comparable to a Washington crime. The State conceded error as to one of the two crimes but not the other. A concurring judge in the Court of Appeals noted that if Mr. Cook is convicted after retrial, neither Georgia conviction may be included in the offender score. But the majority did not reach the issue, so this Court should do so if it grants the State's petition.

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